
Garrettsville Planning Commission 
Public Hearings and Regular Meeting Minutes 

January 2, 2014 
 
2014 Appointees Tom Hardesty and Robert Matson were sworn in prior to the meeting. 
 
Present: Mayor Rick Patrick, Tom Hardesty, Jerry Kehoe, Robert Matson, Solicitor/Acting Zoning 
Inspector Michele Stuck 
 
Absent: Don Harvey, Zoning Inspector Jan Boehm 
 
Others Present: Brent Artman of Artman Engineering; Connie Janus, Attorney Jerry Peterson 
representing HarBon Properties LLC, Michelle Miller of Hallrich, Inc. 
 
Meeting opened at 7:03 p.m. 
 
Election of 2014 Planning Chairperson: Nominations opened.  Mayor Patrick nominated Tom 
Hardesty.  Tom Hardesty nominated Bob Matson.  No further nominations; nominations closed.  
Roll call vote was as follows: Mayor Patrick – Tom Hardesty.  Jerry Kehoe – Tom Hardesty.  Bob 
Matson – Tom Hardesty.  Tom Hardesty – Tom Hardesty.  New Chair of Planning for 2014 is 
Tom Hardesty. 
 
Public Hearings opened by Chair Hardesty:   
 
1. Application for Conditional Use permit submitted by HarBon Properties, LLC for approval of a 
“Walkable Neighborhood” Overlay District in the Fox Hollow subdivision (R2 District) pursuant 
to Codified Ordinances 1171.07.  There was no comment. 
 
2. Application for Conditional Use Home Occupation submitted by Connie Janus to operate a 
dog grooming business at her residence at 8163 High Street (R2 District).  Connie Janus 
explained that she would only be doing grooming a couple of days a week, small dogs only, just 
a couple “here and there”, and that she has been grooming dogs for about 30 years.  There 
would be no signage associated with the business, and that it would be by appointment only.  
No further comment. 
 
3. Application for Conditional Use Drive-through facility (Pizza Hut in Garfield Plaza) in the C2 
District submitted by Hallrich, Inc., PO Box 370, Kent, OH.  There was no comment. 
 
Public Hearings closed. 
 
Minutes of the November 7, 2013 Planning Commission meeting:  Mayor Patrick had one 
correction: In the last sentence of the paragraph beginning “Mr. Patrick McCoy requested a 
Change in Use Permit…”, “Mr. Patrick also requested...” should be changed to “Mr. Patrick 



McCoy also requested…”.  Motion to approve as amended by Mayor Patrick, seconded by Jerry 
Kehoe.  Vote: “Ayes”: Patrick, Kehoe, Hardesty.  “Abstain”: Matson. 
 
Design Review Board business: 
 
The Haw Valley Creative price quote for Historical Color Chart prints was discussed. Mayor 
Patrick said that we’re out of the charts now, and when we last ordered, we contracted with 
Studio D Graphics, but they sublet it out to HVC.  Mayor Patrick then tried to see if the Villager 
could do the order, to keep it local, but the colors weren’t right. Solicitor Stuck said the HVC did 
the final work, so they have all our proofs and values, so we’d be working directly with them.  
The only new thing we’d be ordering is an additional chart with the Pantone values (and extra 
$35.00) to keep on file, not to distribute, in case we ever had to go to another company, so the 
colors would remain consistent.  Mayor Patrick said that for the minor difference in price, we 
might as well order the 2500.   
 
Moved by Jerry Kehoe, seconded by Mayor Patrick, that the expenditure of $802.10 be 
recommended to Council for the purchase of 2500 charts from HVC.  Vote: “Ayes” – 
unanimous. 
 
Review of application for Sign Permit / Certificate of Appropriateness submitted by Mike 
Maschek of Maschek Builders for signage at 8131 Main Street in the Historic Preservation 
District.  This is where the fireplace shop was.  Mike Maschek will be putting his office in there.  
The sign will be using the historic colors.  Tom Hardesty asked if this was going to be a hanging 
sign, perpendicular to the storefront?  Solicitor Stuck said that’s what Mike had told her, that it 
would extend from the building.  Jerry Kehoe asked if it fell within the size requirements?  
Solicitor Stuck said yes.   
 
Bob Matson moved to approve the Certificate of Appropriateness, seconded by Jerry Kehoe.  
Vote: “Ayes” – unanimous. 
 
Planning Commission business: 
 
Review of Application for Conditional Use Home Occupation submitted by Connie Janus to 
operate a dog grooming business at her residence at 8163 High Street (R2 District).  Tom 
Hardesty asked if there were further comments or objections.  Bob Matson asked if this had to 
go to the DRB?  Solicitor Stuck said no, it’s a conditional use home occupation where clients 
come to the building, but doesn’t generate noise in the neighborhood, this is permitted as a 
conditional use as long as it’s approved by Planning.  Jerry Kehoe asked if all three public 
hearings had been advertised as required?  Solicitor Stuck confirmed that they were.   
 
Bob Matson moved to approve the Conditional Use, seconded by Jerry Kehoe.  Vote: “Ayes” – 
unanimous.  Connie Janus stated she would come in next week for her permit, and left the 
meeting. 
 



Review of Preliminary Plat Application for Fox Hollow Subdivision submitted by HarBon LLC.  
Solicitor Stuck stated that there was a previous review, but the lots have been changed 
significantly.  What the Commission has in front of it now is the configuration of the lots that 
will ultimately be platted, although the first “final” plat will not look like this, it will have fewer 
lots to reduce some of the tax burden.  Jerry Peterson said it was kind of a unique situation 
because it wasn’t going to be built all at once.  Tom Hardesty noted that there was a letter from 
Jeff Sheehan in the packet, should we discuss this now?  It was agreed that it would be better 
discussed in conjunction with the “Walkable Neighborhood” application, since that’s what the 
letter really applied to.  Bob Matson asked if the cul-de-sac was in compliance with Fire 
Department needs?  Brent Artman said it was in compliance with the subdivision regs, and that 
it would adequately serve the needs of the fire department.  Solicitor Stuck added that 
normally, the Final Plat would be required to look just like the Preliminary Plat, but since 
HarBon was going to be platting in stages, they would also be going to the BZA for an 
exemption from that requirement, and the BZA hearing on that was scheduled for later in the 
month.   
 
Bob Matson moved to approve the Preliminary Plat, seconded by Mayor Patrick.  Vote: “Ayes” – 
unanimous.   
 
Review of Application for Conditional Use permit submitted by HarBon Properties, LLC for 
approval of a “Walkable Neighborhood” Overlay District in the Fox Hollow subdivision pursuant 
to Codified Ordinances 1171.07.  Jeff Sheehan’s letter was discussed; there would need to be 
additional sanitary sewer and water connections installed because the number of lots in this 
area would basically be doubling.  Bob Matson wanted to make sure the developer knew that 
each residence was going to need its own connections; no one was going to be permitted to 
share a connection. Brent Artman stated that they’ll be utilizing the ones that are already there, 
but if additional ones are required, they will of course be at the developer’s expense.  He 
believed only one or two would need to cross the street; they might be able to be bored.  Jeff 
Sheehan’s letter says that in some places, they are 15 feet deep.  Jerry Peterson believed that it 
would be done on an as needed basis, and Tom Hardesty explained that this was the concern, 
that there would be a lot of cutting going on after the final street surfacing was in place.  Brent 
Artman stated that he would provide a list of which lots would need the new connections. 
 
Tom Hardesty suggested that as a condition of approval of the conditional use, the street 
surfacing agreement needed to be amended to Jeff Sheehan’s satisfaction, and that it should 
include language to the effect that all under-street sewer and water work must be completed 
prior to the top-coat going on the roadway.  Tom also asked if the street surfacing agreement 
meant 25% of lots or of frontage?  It was agreed that it must be specified that it was 25% of the 
lots.   
 
Moved by Mayor Patrick to approve conditional use application subject to Jeff Sheehan’s 
approval and amendment of street surfacing agreement as stated above.  Second by Bob 
Matson.  Vote: “Ayes” – unanimous.  Jerry Peterson left the meeting and everyone wished him 
safe driving going back up north in the snow. 



Site Plan Review for a three-unit commercial building in the C2 District submitted by Hallrich, 
Inc.  Brent Artman gave a presentation and explained that this would be a three-unit, 3600 s/f 
construction, one of which would be a Pizza Hut with delivery, carry-out and drive-through pick-
up window only; it would not be dine-in.  The other tenants who would occupy the remaining 
two units are unknown at this time.  Tom Hardesty questioned ingress and egress.  Brent 
Artman explained that the main entrance would be off State Street; the drive-through will exit 
into Garfield Plaza to the north and there will also be egress onto the existing right-of-way to 
the west.  There was discussion as to whether the “street” to the west, which Mayor Patrick 
called “Shaniman Court”, was still a dedicated roadway.  Bob Matson said that the Village un-
dedicated it years ago.  Brent Artman said that the plan is to get a lot split with the resulting lot 
sold to the developer so that the construction will be on its own lot. 
 
Curbing and catch basins were discussed; Brent said that these will be adequate to address 
potential drainage problems.  There would also be a reciprocal parking agreement negotiated 
with Garfield Plaza.  Tom Hardesty indicated that he would like to see ingress/egress easements 
in place at the time that the lot split was applied for, and also asked if the developer was 
seeking signage permits.  Brent Artman said that this would occur later, at the time of 
construction.  Bob Matson stated that it all looked to be within the requirements of the Zoning 
Code. 
 
Michelle Miller stated that they expected to begin construction in April or May.  Tom Hardesty 
noted that this would make four pizza establishments within the village, and had they 
conducted a market study that supported this?  Michelle Miller stated that they had, and added 
that although this Pizza Hut would feature their whole menu, there would be no sit-down 
dining.  Bob Matson asked about potential tenants, and Michelle Miller said there were none 
yet.  Brent Artman added that the two other units could possibly changed to one down the 
road, though the initial plan was to have two units. 
 
Motion to approve the Site Plan made by Bob Matson, seconded by Mayor Rick Patrick.  Vote:  “Ayes”: 
Matson, Patrick, Hardesty.  “Abstain”:  Kehoe. 
 
Review of application for conditional use drive through facility associated with the proposed Pizza Hut.  
Brent Artman added that this was going to be a pick-up window only; there would not even be an 
ordering kiosk on premises. 
 
Motion to approve the conditional use made by Mayor Rick Patrick, seconded by Bob Matson.  Vote:  
“Ayes”: Matson, Patrick, Hardesty.  “Abstain”:  Kehoe. 
 
Motion to adjourn made by Mayor Rick Patrick, seconded by Bob Matson.  Vote:  “Ayes”: unanimous. 
 
Meeting adjourned at 7:57 p.m. 

 


